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The Directors present their report together with the financial report of mecu Limited (the Company) trading as Bank Australia  
and the consolidated financial report of the consolidated entity, being the Company and its controlled entities, for the year ended  
30 June 2016 and the auditor’s report thereon.

1. Directors
The Directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Name & qualifications
J S Downes

BA (Hons), DipEd, GradDipBus (Acct),  
FAICD, FCPA, FCA 

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Director since March 2012. Appointed Chair 28 March 2014.

Skills & Experience:

Judith is a non-executive director with extensive experience in finance, banking and 
accounting. She has 18 years experience as a Company Director. 

Judith has worked in senior executive and non-executive roles in banking, funds 
management, life insurance, mining and property. She held senior roles in ANZ for  
12 years, including Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer Institutional Division 
and Group General Manager Finance. Prior to working as an accountant, Judith taught 
secondary mathematics. 

Judith has been a member of both international and Australian bodies that are  
involved with the development of accounting standards. Other past positions include 
director, ING Australia and director, Australian Mathematical Science Institute.

Directorships of listed entities within the last three years, other directorships  
and offices (current & recent):

• Member, Financial Reporting Council (since April 2016)

• Non-executive Director, The Spinal Research Institute (since April 2016)

• Member, Finance and Risk Committees, University of Melbourne  
(since December 2012 and May 2013)

• Member, AICD Reporting Committee (since 2010)

• Honorary Fellow, Department of Accounting, Faculty of Business and Economics, 
University of Melbourne (since 2011)

• Non-executive Director, Devine Limited (2009–2016).

Board Committee membership:

Ex officio member of the Audit, Governance and Risk Committees and Member  
Nominations Committee.

Directors’ report
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J W Baistow 

BA, DipBusStud, DipCD,  
Grad Dip Mgt (Tech),  
MBA (Tech Management), FAICD

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Continuing Director of Bank Australia and its predecessor organisations  
since 1990. Chair from November 1999 to October 2005 and then from November 2011  
to 28 March 2014. 

Skills & Experience:

John was a senior executive with CSIRO. He served as a director of Cuscal Limited (the major 
wholesale service provider to Australian customer owned financial institutions) for three 
terms. He was also Chair of the Credit Union Foundation of Australia for two terms. 

In 2013, John was awarded the Distinguished Service Award in recognition of an outstanding 
contribution to the customer owned banking industry.

Directorships of listed entities within the last three years, other directorships  
and offices (current & recent):

Nil.

Board Committee membership:

Member of the Audit and Risk Committees.

M J Bastian

LLB(Hons), GDLP, BBus(Mgt),  
RN, GAICD, A Fin

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Director since November 2012.

Skills & Experience:

Melissa has a diverse background and experience in a variety of industries including 
banking, law, health, local and federal government, education, insurance and leadership 
development. She has advanced leadership and communication skills and extensive 
management, business planning, compliance, strategy development, financial management 
and corporate governance experience.

Directorships of listed entities within the last three years, other directorships  
and offices (current & recent):

• Member, Gippsland Regional Committee of the Australian Institute of Company Directors 
(since May 2013)

• Non-executive Director, Latrobe Community Health Services (since January 2011).

Board Committee membership:

Member of the Audit and Governance Committees.

Directors’ report 
(continued)
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G J Camm

MBA, BBus, CPA, SF Fin

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Director since February 2012.

Skills & Experience:

Greg has extensive experience in finance, working in mortgage insurance and securitisation. 
He then joined the ANZ Banking Group in 1989 where he worked for 16 years, including  
roles as Managing Director, Mortgages; Managing Director, ANZ Bank (New Zealand);  
and Managing Director, Australian Retail Banking. He later worked in New Zealand  
as Managing Director of AMP Financial Services (New Zealand) and in Australia as  
CEO of Superpartners Ltd. 

Directorships of listed entities within the last three years, other directorships  
and offices (current & recent):

• Non-executive Director, Yarra Valley Water (since October 2013)

• Non-executive Director, Bottlecyclers Pty Ltd (since August 2012)

• Member, Business Advisory Council of Greenfleet Australia (since March 2012)

• Trustee of the Australian Cancer Research Foundation (since December 2000)

• Non-executive Director, iSelect Ltd (2012–2014).

Board Committee membership:

Chair of the Risk Committee.

H M Clarke

DipSocSci, DipEd, FAICD

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Continuing Director of Bank Australia and its predecessor organisations  
since 1992. Appointed Deputy Chair in October 2006. 

Skills & Experience: 

Helen has dedicated herself to the public sector. Originally a teacher, she has held senior 
executive and leadership roles in the Victorian Public Service and currently works in the 
Department of Education and Training. Her previous roles include public health, health 
promotion and governance in the public sector.

Directorships of listed entities within the last three years, other directorships  
and offices (current & recent):

• Scholarship trustee of the Dafydd Lewis Trust (since February 2012).

Board Committee membership:

Chair of the Governance Committee. Member of the Risk Committee.
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A-M Corboy 

GAICD, BA, DipEd, BEd, DipFinSer

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Director since November 2015. 

Skills & Experience:

Anne-Marie was CEO of HESTA, the industry superannuation fund for health and community 
services, and Company Secretary to its trustee company HEST Australia Ltd from May 1998 
to February 2015. Prior to this role she was Branch Secretary of the Australian Education 
Union and a teacher.

Anne-Marie has extensive experience in strategic planning, corporate governance, financial 
management, stakeholder management and the ability to manage growth in a competitive 
environment. She has over 20 years experience as a Company Director for a range of 
organisations including the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Victorian Superannuation Board 
and Australian Council for Superannuation Investors and was a trustee on the MCG Trust. 

Directorships of listed entities within the last three years, other directorships  
and offices (current & recent):

• Non-executive Director, Utilities of Australia Pty Ltd (since March 2015)
• Non-executive Director and Chair, Netball Australia Pty Ltd (since February 2014  

and April 2016)
• Non-executive Director, MDC Foundation Ltd (since February 2015)
• Non-Executive Director, TTNL Ltd (since December 2015)
• Non-Executive Director, Australian Commonwealth Games Foundation (since June 2016)

• Vice-President, Asian Netball Federation (since December 2015).

Board Committee membership:

Member of the Audit and Governance Committees.

M A Somerville

BBus(Acc), MAppFin, GAICD, FCA

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Director since December 2014. 

Skills & Experience:

Michelle spent 14 years working as an assurance partner with KPMG, where she was 
responsible for the external audits of many companies across sectors (including financial 
services, not-for-profit, manufacturing and energy in both Australia and the United States). 
She also helped clients implement complex new legislation in their businesses.  
Michelle brings deep finance, risk and governance experience to the Board, having  
worked with listed and non-listed clients in Australia and overseas.

Directorships of listed entities within the last three years, other directorships  
and offices (current & recent):

• Non-executive Director, The GPT Group (since December 2015)
• Non-executive Director and Chair of the Audit Committee, Challenge Retirement and 

Investment Services (since 2014)
• Non-executive Director and Chair of the Board Audit Committee, Save the Children  

(since 2012)
• Non-executive Director and Chair of the Finance Committee, Down Syndrome Australia 

(since 2011).

Board Committee membership:

Chair of the Audit Committee. Member of the Risk Committee. 

Directors’ report 
(continued)
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P J Taylor 

BEc, CPA, ACIS, AGIA, MIIA(Aust),  
RCA, FAICD, FAMI

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Director of Bank Australia and its predecessor organisations between  
October 1991 and April 1997, and since July 1998 to November 2015.

Skills & Experience:

Peter first joined the SEC Credit Union in 1974 (later known as Enterprise Credit Union)  
and for a number of years, he was a member of the Audit Supervisory Committee,  
before joining the Board.

Peter joined the State Electricity Commission of Victoria (SECV) in 1963 gaining experience 
across finance and audit. After leaving the SECV in 1990, he established his own company, 
providing contract administration audits to major corporates.

Peter is an Audit Consultant and a Registered Company Auditor.

Directorships of listed entities within the last three years, other directorships  
and offices (current & recent):

• Member, Risk Management Committee of the Uniting Church in Australia  
(Vic & Tasmania) (since November 2007)

• Member and Chairman of the Board of Management for Heidelberg Orchestras Inc  
(since 1996).

Board Committee membership:

Nil. Retired November 2015.

D G Walsh

BBus (Acct), FCPA, MBA,  
GAICD, FFIN

Independent: No

Term of office: Appointed CEO on 1 September 2011 and Managing Director  
on 22 September 2011.

Skills & Experience:

Damien became Managing Director on 22 September 2011, after serving as General 
Manager of Corporate Services for eight years and also as Company Secretary. Damien has  
a total of 25 years of experience in the mutual banking sector.

Damien has worked primarily in the financial services sector, having spent time at Enterprise, 
ESSO Employees, Outlook and Members Australia Credit Unions.

Damien is responsible for and manages the bank’s group operations. He works with the 
Board in setting group strategy, monitoring group performance and budget, and ensuring 
the bank adheres to all prudential, legal and compliance matters.

Directorships of listed entities within the last three years, other directorships  
and offices (current & recent):

• Council Member, Australian Bankers’ Association (since December 2015)

• Alternate Director, Data Action Ltd (since August 2013)

• Non-executive Director, Business Council of Cooperatives & Mutuals (since August 2013)

• Non-executive Director, CUFSS Limited (since March 2013).

Board Committee membership:

Member of the Governance Committee.
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Directors’ report 
(continued)

2. Company Secretary
L B O’Brien  
BComm, MAppFin, CA, MFTA 

Louise was appointed joint company secretary in August 2016.  
She has over 25 years experience in banking and finance.

3. Key management personnel 
D G Walsh  
BBus (Acct), FCPA, MBA, GAICD, FFIN 
Managing Director

Damien was appointed Managing Director of Bank Australia  
on 22 September 2011 after serving as General Manager  
of Corporate Services and Company Secretary. Damien has  
25 years experience in the customer owned banking sector.

Damien is responsible for bank operations. He works with  
the Board to set strategy, monitor performance and budget  
and to ensure the bank adheres to all prudential, legal and  
compliance matters.

Damien has been instrumental in shaping the bank’s response  
to sustainable development and responsible business practices.

Damien is a fellow of CPA Australia, a fellow of FINSIA and  
a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
He holds a Bachelor of Business and a Masters in Business 
Administration.

P R Ashkettle  
BCA MBA 
Chief Risk Officer

Patrick was appointed Chief Risk Officer in March 2014.  
He previously spent 22 years working across superannuation, 
institutional and retail banking.

As Chief Risk Officer, Patrick is responsible for ensuring Bank 
Australia is on top of its business risks, including day-to-day  
issues, emerging risks and business strategy risks.

Patrick has an MBA from the Australian Graduate School of 
Management (NSW) and has studied at the London Business 
School. He is also a member of the Risk Management Institute  
of Australasia.

R B Dowland  
GAICD 
General Manager Corporate Development

Rowan was appointed to the role of General Manager,  
Corporate Development in January 2003. He has over  
22 years of experience in the customer owned banking sector.

Rowan’s role involves developing and shaping the bank’s brand, 
responsible banking strategy and customer experience in ways 
that meet the expectation of customers. He is responsible for the 
corporate affairs, marketing and people and culture departments.

Rowan is a Director of the Customer Owned Banking Association 
and Marriot Support Services, a social enterprise serving people 
whose lives are impacted by disability. He is also an alternate 
Director of the Business Council of Cooperatives and Mutuals. 
He is a member of the Australian Banking Association’s Industry 
Strategy Working Group, a graduate of the Australian Institute  
of Company Directors and holds a Graduate Certificate in 
Sustainable Development.

L B O’Brien  
BComm, MAppFin, CA, MFTA 
Chief Financial Officer 

Louise has over 25 years experience in banking and finance in 
both Australia and the UK. She joined the bank in 2014 as the 
head of Treasury and has been Chief Financial Officer since  
August 2016. 

Louise is responsible for the bank’s financial management  
and treasury operations.

J P Yardley  
MBA, GAICD  
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

John was appointed Deputy Chief Executive Officer in March 
2016. He has spent more than a decade with Bank Australia after 
working for many years in politics and management consulting. 

John has responsibility for retail banking operations including 
lending, business banking, mortgage brokers, retail network, 
insurance and financial advice. 

John has an MBA and is a graduate of the Australian Institute  
of Company Directors.

L J Heyward  
BA (Hons), CIMA  
Chief Operating Officer

Lorna is the Chief Operating Officer for Bank Australia.  
She joined the bank in August 2016 following a range of  
senior management roles with Latitude Financial Services,  
GE, NAB and Travelex. Lorna’s experience spans many functions 
including customer operations, product, change management, 
procurement, facilities and data management. 

Her role at Bank Australia oversees the bank’s operations  
and technology functions. 

Lorna was born in Perth, Scotland and has qualifications  
in business, management and accountancy. 
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4. Directors’ meetings 

Director
Board  

Meetings
Audit Committee 

Meetings
Risk Committee 

Meetings
Governance Committee 

Meetings

A B A B A B A B

J W Baistow 11 11 3 3 11 11 1 1

M J Bastian 11 11 4 4 – – 3 3

G J Camm 11 11 – – 9 11 – –

H M Clarke 11 11 1 1 6 6 3 3

A-M Corboy 7 7 3 3 – – 2 2

J S Downes 11 11 4 4 11 11 3 3

M A Somerville 11 11 4 4 11 11 – –

P J Taylor 4 4 1 1 4 4 – –

D G Walsh 11 11 4 4 11 11 3 3

A – Number of meetings attended. 
B – Number of meetings held during the time that the Director held office during the year.

5. Remuneration
Principles of compensation

Key management personnel have authority and responsibility  
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Company. Key management personnel comprise the  
non-executive Directors and senior executives of the Company. 

Remuneration levels for key management personnel and 
secretaries of the Company are competitively set to attract 
and retain appropriately qualified and experienced Directors 
and executives. The Board Governance Committee obtains 
independent advice on the appropriateness of remuneration 
packages given trends in comparable companies. 

Remuneration packages for key management personnel and 
secretaries of the Company do not include incentive programs.

Non-executive Directors

Total remuneration for all non-executive Directors, last voted 
upon by members at the 2015 AGM, is not to exceed $562,671 
per annum. The Directors may determine how this sum is to be 
apportioned among them and how and when it is to be paid.  
The said sum includes relevant taxes payable by either the 
Company or Directors.

6. Principal activities
The principal activities of the Company during the year remained 
unchanged and were the raising of funds as authorised by the 
Prudential Standards administered by the Australian Prudential 
Regulation Authority (APRA) and the Banking Act 1959, and the 
application of those funds in providing financial accommodation 
to customers.
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7. Review of Operations 
The consolidated entity reported a net profit after income  
tax for the financial year ended 30 June 2016 of $22,592,177 
(2015: $23,955,579).

The year has seen significant growth in net loans and  
advances of 20.84% year on year, to $3,218.1 million from 
$2,663.2 million. This has contributed to the stable interest 
income result despite the margin compression resulting from  
rate reductions. The consolidated entity has also continued to 
increase its household deposits in a competitive environment for 
market share, growing 12.46% year on year to $3,402.6 million 
from $3,025.6 million.

Higher expenses for the consolidated entity are a result of 
strategic decisions to invest in our digital platforms and in  
building awareness of the bank’s brand and products with our 
target audience who are looking for a responsible approach to 
banking. Additionally, there has been a significant investment 
in the development of our people as we continually equip them 
with the skills to support and enhance the experience of our 
customers. These investments are made to ensure that we 
continue to return value to our customers not only today  
but into the future.

Regulatory Capital

The consolidated entity is required to maintain minimum 
regulatory capital holdings in accordance with APRA Prudential 
Standard APS110. These holdings include, but are not limited 
to, retained earnings, asset revaluation reserves and other 
comprehensive income. At 30 June 2016, the consolidated entity 
held regulatory capital of $389,089,597 (2015: $369,190,157). 
The terms and conditions of the regulatory capital holdings  
and full regulatory capital reconciliation are available at  
www.bankaust.com.au/why-bank-with-us/tools-and-resources/
disclosures.html. 

At 30 June 2016 the Company’s capital adequacy ratio was 
18.66% (2015: 19.74%).

Significant changes in the state of affairs

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs  
of the consolidated entity that occurred during the financial  
year not otherwise disclosed in the financial statements  
of the consolidated entity. 

8. Credit rating
During the year ended 30 June 2016, the consolidated entity’s 
long-term credit rating was maintained at ‘BBB+’ with a stable 
outlook and the short-term rating was maintained at ‘A-2’ by 
Standard and Poor’s. 

Credit ratings are statements of opinion and not statements of 
fact or recommendations to purchase, sell or hold any securities. 
Credit ratings are subject to change. For the latest credit ratings 
information please refer to www.standardandpoors.com.au

Standard & Poor’s (Australia) Pty Ltd holds Australian financial 
services licence number 337565 under the Corporations Act  
2001. Standard & Poor’s credit ratings and related research  
are not intended for and must not be distributed to any person  
in Australia other than a wholesale client (as defined in  
Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act).

9. Dividends
The Directors do not recommend a dividend and no dividends 
were declared or paid during the year. 

10. Events subsequent to balance date
There have been no other matters or circumstances that  
have arisen since the end of the financial year that have 
significantly affected or may significantly affect subsequent 
financial years concerning:

(i) the operation of the Company; or

(ii) the results of those operations; or

(iii) the state of affairs of the Company.

11. Likely developments and expected results
The Company is in discussion with Sydney based Intech Credit 
Union about a possible merger. The proposed merger will  
establish Intech Bank (subject to approval from APRA) as  
a division of Bank Australia targeting people employed in the 
technology sector across Australia’s eastern states. Merger and 
business plans are currently being constructed in readiness  
of a vote by Intech Credit Union customers being successful.

Apart from the possible merger, the Directors are not aware  
of any other likely developments in financial years subsequent  
to 30 June 2016 that may significantly affect the operation  
and expected results of the Company.

Directors’ report 
(continued)
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12. Directors’ interests
During or since the end of the financial year no Directors have 
received or become entitled to any benefits (other than a benefit 
included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or  
due and receivable by Directors shown in the accounts) from  
a contract between the Company and themselves, their firm  
or a company in which they have a substantial interest.

13. Indemnification of officers and auditors
The Company has paid insurance premiums in respect of 
Directors’ and Officers’ liability and legal expenses contracts.  
The Company has not indemnified the current external auditors, 
Ernst & Young. The Directors have not included details of the 
nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium 
paid in respect of the Directors’ and Officers’ liability and legal 
expenses insurance contracts, as such disclosure is prohibited 
under the terms of the contract.

14. Lead auditor’s independence declaration
The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on  
page 10 and forms part of the Directors’ report for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2016.

15. Financial accommodation to Directors  
 and associates
The provision of financial accommodation to Directors and 
associates of Directors does not contravene the Prudential 
Standards administered by APRA and is shown in the Company’s 
accounts in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

16. Basis of preparation
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations 
(Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 
dated 24 March 2016 and in accordance with that Instrument 
amounts in the financial report and Directors’ Report have  
been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise stated.

The Directors have applied the relief available under ASIC Class 
Order 10/654 Inclusion of parent entity financial statements  
in financial reports effective 29 July 2010 to continue to present 
full parent entity financial statements as part of the consolidated 
financial report.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution  
of the Directors:

Judith Downes, Director      
Signed at Melbourne on 22 September 2016  

Michelle Somerville, Director 
Signed at Melbourne on 22 September 2016
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In relation to our audit of the financial report of mecu Limited 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2016, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 
or any applicable code of professional conduct.

Ernst & Young

T J Coyne, Partner 
Melbourne, 22 September 2016

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001
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Statement of financial position 
at 30 June 2016

  Consolidated Consolidated The The
  Entity Entity Company Company
  2016 2015 2016  2015 
  Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets  
Cash and liquid assets 7  52,225   55,359   52,225   55,359 

Receivables 8  24,821   29,329   25,056   29,005 

Debt securities at amortised cost 9  12,000   51,200   12,000   51,200 

Investment securities at amortised cost 10  674,281   723,464   674,281   723,464 

Net loans and advances 11,12  3,218,141   2,663,206   3,218,141   2,663,206 

Investments in associates 13  5,383   5,262   5,383   5,262 

Other investments 14  24,365   26,568   27,983   30,186 

Property, plant and equipment 15  24,554   21,072   15,109   14,486 

Intangible assets 16  954   1,075   954   1,075 

Derivative financial assets 17  1,056   –   1,056   – 

Other assets 18  979   884   976   879 

Deferred tax assets 19  –   –   –   – 

Total assets   4,038,759   3,577,419   4,033,164   3,574,122 

Liabilities  
Deposits 20  3,402,568   3,025,571   3,404,349   3,026,950 

Short-term borrowings 21  145,069   87,169   145,069   87,169 

Current tax payable 22  1,271   948   1,271   948 

Provisions 22  5,336   5,451   5,336   5,451 

Other liabilities 22  46,733   43,695   46,706   43,690 

Deferred tax liabilities 19  1,831   2,582   1,831   2,582 

Total liabilities   3,602,808   3,165,416   3,604,562   3,166,790 

Net assets   435,951   412,003   428,602   407,332 

Customer owners’ funds
Reserves 23  435,951   412,003   428,602   407,332 

Retained earnings   –   –   –   – 

Total customer owners’ funds   435,951   412,003   428,602   407,332 

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of profit or loss  
and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2016

  Consolidated Consolidated The The
  Entity Entity Company Company
  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Revenue
Interest revenue 5(a) 150,670  150,251   150,670   150,251 

Interest expense 5(d) (70,192) (74,639) (70,192) (74,639)

Net interest revenue   80,478   75,612   80,478   75,612 

Share of profit in an associate 5(b)  1,577   808   1,577   808 

Other income 5(c)  15,181   16,786   14,779   16,418 

Total revenue   97,236   93,206   96,834   92,838 

Expenses
Bad and doubtful debts expense 5(e) (881) (753) (881) (753)

Other expenses 5(f),(g) (65,167) (59,946) (64,765) (59,578)

Total expenses  (66,048) (60,699) (65,646) (60,331)

Profit before income tax   31,188   32,507   31,188   32,507

Income tax expense 6 (8,596) (8,552) (8,596) (8,552)

Profit for the period   22,592   23,955   22,592   23,955 

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassifed to profit or loss
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment, net of tax   2,413   1,031  (860)  1,031 

Net change in fair value of financial assets classified  
as fair value through other comprehensive income, net of tax  (2,427)  9,687  (2,427)  9,687 

Net change in share of equity of associate   909   155   909   155 

Items that may or may not be reclassifed to profit or loss 
Net (loss)/gain on cash flow hedges   1,056  –  1,056  –

Total comprehensive income for the period 
attributable to customer owners   24,543   34,828   21,270   34,828 

The statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of changes in customer owners’ funds
for the year ended 30 June 2016

     Cash  General  Total
    Asset flow Fair reserve Redeemed Customer
  Retained General  revaluation hedge value for credit capital Owners’
  earnings reserves  reserve  reserve reserve losses reserve Funds
 Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Consolidated Entity
At 30 June 2015   –   391,603   5,503   –   11,016   2,286   1,595   412,003

Profit for the period   22,592   –   –   –   –   –   –   22,592 

Other comprehensive  
income   –   909   2,413   1,056  (2,427)  –   –   1,951 

Total comprehensive  
income   22,592   909   2,413   1,056  (2,427)  –   –   24,543 

Movement from  
controlled entity   –  (595)  –   –   –   –   –  (595)

Transfers between  
reserves  (22,592)  22,250   –   –   –   295   47  –

At 30 June 2016   –   414,167   7,916   1,056   8,589   2,581   1,642   435,951 

At 30 June 2014   –   365,650   4,472   –   3,489   2,058   1,506   377,175 

Profit for the period   23,955   –   –   –   –   –   –   23,955 

Other comprehensive  
income   –   155   1,031   –   9,687   –   –   10,872 

Total comprehensive  
income   23,955   155   1,031   –   9,687   –   –   34,828 

Transfers between  
reserves  (23,955)  25,798   –   –  (2,160)  228   89   – 

At 30 June 2015   –   391,603   5,503   –   11,016   2,286   1,595   412,003 
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     Cash  General  Total
    Asset flow Fair reserve Redeemed Customer
  Retained General  revaluation hedge value for credit capital Owners’
  earnings reserves  reserve  reserve reserve losses reserve Funds
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company
At 30 June 2015   –   391,008   1,427   –   11,016   2,286   1,595   407,332 

Profit for the period   22,592   –   –   –  –  –   –   22,592 

Other comprehensive  
income   –   909  (860)  1,056  (2,427)  –   –  (1,322)

Total comprehensive  
income   22,592   909  (860)  1,056  (2,427)  –   –   21,270 

Transfers between  
reserves  (22,592)  22,250   –   –  –  295   47  –

At 30 June 2016   –  414,167   567   1,056   8,589   2,581   1,642   428,602 

At 30 June 2014   –   365,055   396   –   3,489   2,058   1,506   372,504 

Profit for the period   23,955   –   –   – –   –   –  23,955 

Other comprehensive  
income   –   155   1,031   –   9,687   –   –  10,872 

Total comprehensive  
income   23,955   155   1,031  –  9,687   – –   34,828 

Transfers between  
reserves  (23,955)  25,798   – –  (2,160)  228   89   – 

At 30 June 2015   –  391,008   1,427   –   11,016   2,286   1,595   407,332 

Statement of changes in customer owners’ funds
for the year ended 30 June 2016 (continued)
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  Consolidated Consolidated The The
  Entity Entity Company Company
  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Inflows
Interest received from loans   128,570   126,371   128,570   126,371 

Interest received from investments   22,101   23,976   20,515   23,749 

Fees and commission received   15,714   14,010   14,820   13,968 

Dividends received   1,548   2,757   1,548   2,757 

Bad debts recovered   71   36   71   36 

Other income   636   1,160   880   784 

Total inflows    168,640   168,310   166,404   167,665 

Outflows
Interest paid on deposits  (68,709) (72,994) (68,709) (72,471)

Interest paid to other corporations  (3,124) (1,794) (3,124) (1,794)

Payments to suppliers and employees  (57,774) (64,542) (56,795) (64,350

Income tax paid  (9,026) (7,691) (9,026) (7,390)

Total outflows   (138,633) (147,021) (137,654) (146,005)

Net inflows from operating activities 30(c)  30,007   21,289   28,750   21,660 

Cash flows from investing activities
Net movement in investments   91,507  (89,708)  92,696  (80,245)

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets   296   197   175   118 

Net increase in loans  (553,994) (238,112) (553,994) (238,112)

Physical assets purchased  (3,024) (2,958) (2,643) (2,296)

Net outflows from investing activities  (465,215) (330,581) (463,767) (320,535)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net increase in deposits   374,174   275,684   373,983   265,267 

Net increase in borrowings   57,900   38,522   57,900   38,522 

Net inflows from financing activities   432,074   314,206   431,883   303,789 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  (3,134)  4,914  (3,134)  4,914 

Cash at the beginning of the year   55,359   50,445   55,359   50,445 

Cash at the end of the year 7  52,225   55,359   52,225   55,359 

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2016
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016

1. Reporting entity
mecu Limited, trading as Bank Australia (the Company)  
is a customer owned, mutual company domiciled and 
incorporated in Australia. The address of the Company’s  
registered office is 222 High Street Kew, Victoria 3101.  
The consolidated financial statements of the Company for  
the financial year ended 30 June 2016 comprises the accounts 
of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 
‘consolidated entity’). The Company is a for-profit entity for the 
benefit of its customers and is primarily involved in the raising  
of funds as authorised by the Prudential Standards administered 
by APRA and the Banking Act 1959, and the application of those 
funds in providing financial accommodation to customers.

2. Basis of preparation
(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose 
financial statements that have been prepared in accordance  
with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) (including 
Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian  
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations  
Act 2001. The consolidated financial statements comply 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board.

The Directors have applied the relief available under ASIC Class 
Order 10/654 Inclusion of parent entity financial statements  
in financial reports effective 29 July 2010 to continue to  
present full parent entity financial statements as part of  
the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised  
for issue by the Directors on 22 September 2016.

(b) Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared and presented  
in Australian dollars and on a cost basis except property and  
some investments, which are stated at fair value. 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations 
(Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 
dated 24 March 2016 and in accordance with that Instrument, 
amounts in the financial statements and Directors’ Report  
have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars,  
unless otherwise stated.

(c) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management  
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect  
the application of accounting policies and reported amounts  
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates  
and associated assumptions are based on historic experience  
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable  
under the circumstances. The results of these estimates and 
assumptions form the basis of making the judgements about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from  
these estimates. These accounting policies have been  
consistently applied by each entity in the consolidated entity.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future 
periods affected.

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that most significantly affect the amounts recognised  
in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

• Note 12 – provision for impaired loans

• Note 15 – valuation of property

• Note 33 – financial instruments.

3. Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in the Company’s financial 
statements, and have been applied consistently by the 
consolidated entity. 

(a) Basis of consolidation

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method as at the acquisition date, which is the date control 
is transferred to the consolidated entity. For every business 
combination, the consolidated entity identifies the acquirer, 
which is the combining entity that obtains control of the other 
combining entities or businesses. Control is the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. The acquisition date is the date on 
which control is transferred to the acquirer. 
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Measuring goodwill

The consolidated entity measures goodwill as the fair value  
of the consideration transferred less the net recognised amount 
(generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed, all measured at the acquisition date. 
Consideration includes the fair value of the assets transferred, 
liabilities incurred and equity interests. 

Transaction costs

Transaction costs that the consolidated entity incurs in 
connection with a business combination, such as legal fees,  
due diligence fees and other professional consulting fees are 
expensed as incurred. 

Subsidiaries and special purpose entities

Subsidiaries and special purpose entities are entities controlled  
by the Company. Control exists when an investor controls an 
investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns  
from its involvement with the investee, and has the ability  
to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control 
commences until the date that control ceases. 

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost in the Company’s 
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the consolidated entity 
comprise the accounts of Bank Australia, its subsidiary companies 
and special purpose entities, Ed Credit Services Pty Ltd, ECS Unit 
Trust, Ed Credit Insurance Services Pty Ltd and Buloke Funding 
Trust No. 1. 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or 
income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Interest in equity accounted associates

Associates are those entities in which the Company has significant 
influence, but not control, over the financial and operating 
policies. Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity 
method. The equity method is a method of accounting whereby 
the investment is initially recognised at cost and adjusted 
thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the investor’s share 
of the investee’s net assets. The investor’s statement of profit or 
loss includes its share of the investee’s statement of profit or loss 
and the investor’s other comprehensive income includes its share 
of the investee’s other comprehensive income. The bank’s share 
of equity represents the carrying value of the investment at the 
balance date. Distributions received, such as dividends, from  
an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment.

(b) Financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Company uses interest rate swaps to hedge its interest  
rate risks. Such derivative financial instruments are initially 
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract 
is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. 

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified  
as cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability  
in cash flows is either attributable to a particular risk associated 
with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable  
forecast transaction.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Company  
formally designates and documents the hedge relationship 
to which it wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. 
The documentation includes identification of the hedging 
instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the  
risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the effectiveness 
of changes in the hedging instrument’s fair value in offsetting  
the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or  
cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. 

Also at inception, the Company makes an assessment of 
effectiveness based on capacity testing to ensure the hedging 
instruments are expected to be highly effective in offsetting  
the changes in fair value or cash flows of the respective hedged 
items attributable to hedged risk, and whether the actual result  
of each hedge is within a range of 80–125%.

The hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting  
are accounted for as cash flow hedges. The effective portion 
of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised 
in customers’ owners funds in the cash flow hedge reserve, 
while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the 
statement of profit or loss. 

Amounts recognised as customers’ owners funds are transferred 
to the statement of profit or loss when the hedged transaction 
affects the statement of profit or loss, such as when the hedged 
financial income or financial expense is recognised or when  
a forecast sale occurs. If the hedging instrument expires or is 
sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover 
(as part of the hedging strategy), or if its designation as a hedge 
is revoked, or when the hedge no longer meets the criteria 
for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in customers’ owners funds remains separately  
in equity until the forecast transaction occurs.
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The Company presents the fair value of its derivative assets  
and derivative liabilities on a gross basis. All derivatives, including 
those used for balance sheet hedging purposes, are carried  
as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when  
their fair value is negative.

Non-derivative financial instruments

The consolidated entity initially recognises financial assets on  
the date at which it becomes a party to the contractual provision 
of the instrument.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. If the financial 
asset is not subsequently measured at fair value through profit 
and loss, the initial measurement includes transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the asset’s acquisition or origination. 
The consolidated entity subsequently measures the financial 
assets at either fair value or amortised cost. 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Financial assets, investments, loans and receivables, are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest  
method and net of any impairment loss, if the asset is held  
within a business model with an objective to hold assets  
to collect contractual cash flows; and the contractual terms  
of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash  
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.

Financial assets measured at fair value

Financials assets other than those measured at amortised 
cost are measured at fair value with all changes in fair value 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The fair value of 
equity holdings is determined by reference to their quoted closing 
bid price at the reporting date, or if unquoted, determined using 
a valuation technique. Valuation techniques employed include 
market multiples and discounted cash flow analysis using 
expected future cash flows and a market-related discount rate. 

For investments in equity instruments, the consolidated entity  
has elected at initial recognition to present fair value gains and 
losses in other comprehensive income because the instruments 
are not held for trading.

For instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, gains and losses are never reclassified  
to the statement of profit or loss and no impairments are 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Dividends earned 
from such investments are recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part  
of the cost of the investment. 

(c) Repurchase agreements

Securities sold under repurchase agreements are retained  
in the financial statements where substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership remain with the Company. A counterparty 
liability is recognised and classified as short-term borrowings.  
The difference between the sale price and the repurchase price  
is accrued over the life of the repurchase agreement and  
charged to interest expense in the statement of profit or loss. 

(d) Securitisation

The Company conducts a loan securitisation program whereby 
mortgage loans are sold as securities to an unrelated entity,  
thus removing the assets from the Company’s balance sheet.  
The contractual arrangements of the program meet the criteria 
for transferring assets off balance sheet. The Company bears no 
risk exposure in respect of these loans. The Company receives fee 
and commission income from securitised loans which is included 
in non-interest revenue. The Company no longer uses this 
program and the owner of the program has given notice to  
cease new loan securitisations. The pool of existing securitised 
loans is in run-off. 

The Company has established a repurchase obligation trust 
(Buloke Funding Trust No. 1) as a contingent liquidity vehicle 
should there be insufficient liquidity to meet operational 
requirements. The Company has transferred loan contractual 
benefits to the trust. These loans do not satisfy the criteria for 
transferring assets off balance sheet because the credit risk 
associated with these loans remains with the Company.  
As such, the loans remain on the balance sheet of the Company. 

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated 
depreciations using an external independent valuation company 
with appropriate recognised professional qualifications and 
experience. The fair values are based on market values, being  
the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged 
on date of valuation between a willing buyer and willing seller  
in an arm’s length transaction. 

Other items of property, plant and equipment are measured 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to  
the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part  
of that equipment. 

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items  
of property, plant and equipment.

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016
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Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant  
and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds  
from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant  
and equipment and are recognised net within ‘other income’  
in the statement of profit or loss. When revalued assets  
are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve  
are transferred to retained earnings. 

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item  
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied 
within the item will flow to the consolidated entity and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day 
servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in  
the statement of profit or loss as incurred. 

Depreciation

With the exception of freehold land and artworks, depreciation is 
charged to the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, 
plant and equipment. Land and artworks are not depreciated. 

The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative periods 
are as follows:

Category Depreciation period

Freehold buildings 40 years

Leasehold improvements the lease term

Plant and equipment 3 to 5 years

The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method 
applied to an asset are reassessed at least annually.

(f) Intangible assets

The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at fair value less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised 
development costs, are not capitalised and the related 
expenditure is reflected in the statement of profit or loss  
in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as finite. 
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the  
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an 
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at 
the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful 

life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated  
as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense  
on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss as the expense category that is consistent with 
the function of the intangible assets.

(g) Leased assets

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, 
a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the 
inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease  
if fulfilment of the arrangement depends on the use of a  
specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right  
to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not specified in  
an arrangement. Leases are recognised and classified as finance 
leases if the consolidated entity assumes substantially all the  
risks and rewards of ownership. Upon initial recognition, the 
leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its 
fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in 
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are  
not recognised on the consolidated entity’s balance sheet. 

(h) Impairment

Financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to  
determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is 
impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective 
evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative 
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured  
at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

Impairment of loans is not recognised until objective evidence  
is available that a loss event has occurred. Significant loans  
are individually assessed for impairment. Impairment testing  
of loans that are not assessed as impaired individually is 
performed by placing them into portfolios of loans with similar  
risk profiles and undertaking a collective assessment of 
impairment. This assessment is based on objective evidence 
from historical experience, adjusted for any effects of conditions 
existing at each balance date. 

All impairment losses are recognised in the statement  
of profit or loss. 
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An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss  
was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised  
cost and fair value financial assets that are debt securities,  
the reversal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.  
Any bad debts recovered are recognised in the statement  
of profit or loss in the period in which they were recovered. 

(i) Employee benefits

Defined contribution superannuation plan

A defined contributions plan is a post-employee benefits  
plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions to  
a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive  
obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions  
to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense  
in the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Other long-term employee benefits

The consolidated entity’s net obligation in respect of long-term 
service benefits, other than defined benefit superannuation 
funds, is the amount of future benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. 
The obligation is calculated using expected future increases in 
wage and salary rates including related on-costs and expected 
settlement dates. It is discounted using the rates attached to  
high quality Corporate Bond rates at the balance date that  
have maturity dates approximating the terms of the  
consolidated entity’s obligations.

Short-term benefits

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries, and annual 
leave that are expected to be settled within 12 months of 
the reporting date represent present obligations resulting 
from employees’ services provided to reporting date. They are 
calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration 
wage and salary rates that the consolidated entity expects  
to pay at reporting date including related on-costs, such as 
workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax.

( j) Provisions

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial  
position when the consolidated entity has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and the amount of the provision can be measured 
reliably. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability. 

Onerous contracts

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected 
benefits to be derived by the consolidated entity from a contract 
are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations 
under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value 
of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and 
the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a 
provision is established, the consolidated entity recognises any 
impairment loss on any assets associated with the contract. 

(k) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the consolidated entity and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is reported net  
of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). Revenue is  
not recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding 
recovery of the consideration due or where the costs incurred  
or to be incurred cannot be measured reliably.

Interest income

Interest income on loans is calculated on the daily balance 
outstanding and is charged in arrears to a customer’s account 
monthly. Interest income is recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss as it accrues, using the effective yield interest method. 
Loan establishment fees and costs including upfront broker 
commission are also included in the effective yield interest 
method and are amortised over the average life of the loan.

Due to the short-term nature and reviewability of Revolving Credit 
facilities, all associated fees and costs, including establishment 
fees, are recognised at the time the related service is performed.

Fee and commission income

Other transaction related loan fees and commission income  
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the  
related service is provided and the income is contractually due. 
The gross amount of commission income is recognised. 

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in the statement of profit  
or loss on the date the consolidated entity’s right to receive 
payments is established, which in the case of quoted securities  
is ex-dividend date.

Asset sales

The net proceeds of asset sales not originally purchased for the 
intention of resale are included as revenue at the date a contract 
of sale becomes unconditional. The gain or loss on disposal is 
calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the 
asset at the time of disposal and the net proceeds on disposal.

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016
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(l) Expenses

Interest expense

Interest payable on customer deposits is calculated on the 
daily balance outstanding and is credited in arrears periodically. 
Interest expense is recognised in the statement of profit or loss  
as it accrues, using the effective yield interest method.

Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

(m) Income tax

Income tax on profit or loss for the year comprises current and 
deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income except to the extent  
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity. Income tax 
on equity items is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income 
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
the statements of financial position date, and any adjustment to 
tax payable in respect of previous years. Tax for current and prior 
years is recognised as a liability to the extent that it is unpaid.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability 
method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 
recognised for the temporary differences arising from the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting 
nor taxable profit. Nor is it recognised for the differences relating 
to investments in subsidiaries if they will probably not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is 
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of  
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it  
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are  
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that  
the related tax benefit will be realised. 

(n) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 
of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO).  
In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost  
of acquisition of the asset or included in the item of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of  
GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO  
is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of 
financial position.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross 
basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities that are recoverable from, or payable to, 
the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

(o) Member shares

Following a successful resolution voted by customers at the  
2015 Annual General Meeting, customers joining the bank are 
issued with a share free of charge. Each Bank Australia customer 
has one share, which cannot be sold or transferred to anyone 
else. Customers who had previously purchased their share at  
$5 have had this amount refunded. Any remaining shares yet  
to be refunded are classified as withdrawable shares under 
deposits (liability).

(p) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations have been issued by the AASB but are not yet 
effective for the period ending 30 June 2016. Those that  
may be relevant to the consolidated entity are set out below.  
The consolidated entity does not plan to adopt these  
standards early. 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

AASB 9 replaces the existing guidance in AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. AASB 9 includes 
revised guidance on the classification and measurement of 
financial instruments, including a new forward looking expected 
credit loss model for calculating impairment of financial assets 
and a substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting. 
AASB 9 carries forward the guidance and recognition and 
derecognition of financial instruments from AASB 139. AASB 9  
is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2018 with early adoption permitted. 
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As the classification and measurement changes could be  
early applied in isolation without otherwise changing the 
accounting for financial instruments, these were adopted  
in the consolidated and company financial statements for  
the period ending 30 June 2011.

Specifically, the new standard requires entities to account  
for expected credit losses from when financial instruments  
are first recognised and to recognise full lifetime expected  
losses on a more timely basis. The new hedging accounting 
requirements include changes to hedge effectiveness testing, 
treatment of hedging costs, risk components that can be  
hedged and disclosures.

The Company is assessing the requirements and the impact  
of the expected loss impairment model and the new hedge 
accounting requirements.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining 
whether, how much, and when revenue is recognised. AASB 15 
supersedes AASB 18 Revenue, AASB 111 Constructions Contracts 
along with a number of interpretations. AASB 15 is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early 
adoption permitted. 

The core principle of AASB 15 is that an entity recognises revenue 
to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers 
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. 
An entity recognises revenue in accordance with that core 
principle by applying the following steps:

(a) Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

(b) Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

(c) Step 3: Determine the transaction price 

(d) Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance  
  obligations in the contract

(e) Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies  
  a performance obligation.

The Company is assessing the requirements and impact of  
the changes to the recognition of revenue from customers.

AASB 16 Leases

AASB 16 supersedes AASB 117 Leases along with a number of 
interpretations. The new standard will be effective for annual 
reporting periods on or after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is 
permitted, provided the new revenue standard, AASB 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers, has been applied, or is applied  
at the same date as AASB 16.

The key features of AASB 16 are as follows:

Lessee accounting

• Lessees are required to recognise assets and liabilities  
for all leases with a term of more than 12 months,  
unless the underlying asset is of low value.

• A lessee measures right-of-use assets similarly to other  
non-financial assets and lease liabilities similarly to other 
financial liabilities.

• Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially  
measured on a present value basis. The measurement 
includes non-cancellable lease payments (including  
inflation-linked payments), and also includes payments  
to be made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably 
certain to exercise an option to extend the lease, or not  
to exercise an option to terminate the lease.

• AASB 16 contains disclosure requirements for lessees.

Lessor accounting

• AASB 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting 
requirements in AASB 117. Accordingly, a lessor continues  
to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases,  
and to account for those two types of leases differently.

• AASB 16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided  
by lessors that will improve information disclosed about  
a lessor’s risk exposure, particularly to residual value risk.

The Company is assessing the requirements and impact of the 
changes to lease accounting.

Notes to the financial statements 
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4. Financial risk management
(a) Introduction and overview

The consolidated entity has exposure to the following risks  
from the use of financial instruments:

• credit risk

• liquidity risk

• market risk

• interest rate risk

• operational risk

• capital risk.

This note presents information about the exposure to each of the 
above risks, the objectives, policies and processes for measuring 
and managing risk and capital. Further quantitative disclosures 
are included throughout the notes to the financial statements. 

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for establishing 
and overseeing the risk management framework. The Board has 
established the Risk Committee, which provides an objective 
oversight of the implementation and on-going operation of 
the risk management framework; oversees and monitors risk 
identification, assessment and control methodologies; and 
ensures prudential and statutory requirements in relation  
to the risk management framework are met. The Committee 
reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities.

The Audit Committee oversees the effectiveness of internal 
controls and is assisted in its role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit 
undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management 
controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the 
Audit Committee. 

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse 
the risks faced by the consolidated entity, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. 
Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly  
to reflect changes in market conditions and the consolidated 
entity’s activities. The consolidated entity, through training  
and management’s standards and procedures, aims to develop  
a disciplined and constructive control environment in which  
all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

Each operational area of the consolidated entity manages  
its own risks. This approach creates the first line of defence  
and encourages a risk culture that involves all staff. A central  
risk and compliance team, led by the Chief Risk Officer,  
creates a second line of defence.

The consolidated entity engages independent auditors and 
assurance advisors to review and monitor the risk management 
framework as well as our financial, economic, social and 
environmental performance. This creates the third line of defence.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty 
to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, 
and arises principally from loans and advances to customers, 
debt and investment securities held to maturity. The consolidated 
entity has adopted a policy of dealing only with credit worthy 
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security 
where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial 
loss from defaults.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the 
carrying amount of the financial assets. The credit risk on financial 
assets that have been recognised in the balance sheet, other 
than investments in shares, is generally the carrying amount, 
net of any provisions for impairment, and is shown gross before 
the effect of mitigation through use of collateral. Credit risk for 
physical securities and investments is monitored by exposure  
to credit limits to counterparties. These limits are determined  
by reference to third party ratings.

Management of credit risk

The Board of Directors has implemented policies to mitigate  
and manage credit risk. Credit risk policies aim to:

• control and mitigate risk of loss associated with  
delinquent credit facilities and deteriorating loan assets

• establish collateral requirements, credit assessment,  
risk grading and reporting, documentary and legal  
procedures, and compliance with regulatory and  
statutory requirements

• establish the authorisation structure for the approval  
and renewal of credit facilities.

Impaired loans and securities

Impaired loans and securities are those for which the 
consolidated entity determines that it is probable that it will  
be unable to collect all principal and interest due according  
to the contractual terms of the loan/securities agreements. 

Past due but not impaired loans

These are loans and securities where contractual interest or 
principal payments are past due but the consolidated entity 
believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of 
security/collateral available and/or the stage of collection  
of amounts owed. 
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Allowances for impairment

The consolidated entity establishes an allowance for impairment 
losses that represents its estimate of incurred losses in its loan 
portfolio. The components of this allowance are a specific loss 
component that relates to individually assessed exposures  
and a collective loss component that relates to risks that  
are unidentified individually but inherent in the loan portfolio.  
In addition, a General Reserve for Credit Losses is carried  
in equity in accordance with APRA prudential requirements. 

Write-off policy

The consolidated entity writes off a loan/security balance  
(and any related allowance for impairment losses) when  
it is determined that the loan/security is uncollectible.  
This determination is reached after considering information  
such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s/
issuer’s financial position such that the borrower/issuer can  
no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral  
will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. 

Collateral

The consolidated entity holds collateral against loans and 
advances to the customers in the form of mortgage interest  
over property, other registered securities over assets, and 
guarantees. Estimates of fair value are based on the value of 
collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and generally are not 
updated except when a loan is individually assessed as impaired. 
Collateral is usually not held against investment securities. 

Settlement risk

The consolidated entity’s activities may give rise to risk at the  
time of settlement of transactions. Settlement risk is the risk of 
loss due to the failure of a company to honour its obligations to 
deliver cash, securities of other assets as contractually agreed. 

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the consolidated entity will encounter 
difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial liabilities.

Management of liquidity risk

The consolidated entity’s approach to managing liquidity is 
to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal  
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses  
or risking damage to the consolidated entity’s reputation. 

The Board of Directors has implemented policies to mitigate 
and manage liquidity risk. Liquidity risk policies aim to measure, 
monitor and manage liquidity risk. The key measure used by 
the consolidated entity for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of 
high quality liquid assets to its liabilities base, as defined in APRA 
Prudential Standards. The management process incorporates 
specific liquidity management strategies and liquidity contingency 
plans that manage liquidity on a daily basis including stress 
testing under normal situations and assumed adverse scenarios. 
The liquidity strategy requires the holding of surplus funds in high 
quality liquid assets, the availability of appropriate standby lines 
of funding, maintenance of reliable sources of funding and daily, 
medium and longer term liquidity projections.

Exposure to liquidity risk

The key measure used to manage liquidity risk is the ratio of  
high quality liquid assets to adjusted liabilities. For this purpose, 
liquid assets are considered to include cash and cash equivalents 
and investment grade debt securities for which there is an  
active and liquid market. The calculation is used to ensure 
compliance with the minimum level of liquidity prescribed by 
APRA. The consolidated entity complied with all APRA liquidity 
requirements throughout the year.

(d) Non-traded market risk

Non-traded market risk is the risk of loss owing to changes in  
the general level of market prices or interest rates and refers  
to the market risk inherent in the consolidated entity’s ordinary 
business activities. The consolidated entity is not exposed to any 
traded market risk or foreign exchange risk because it does not 
enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative 
financial instruments, for speculative purposes and does not  
deal in foreign exchange contracts. The use of financial derivatives 
is governed by the consolidated entity’s policies, as approved  
by the Board.

Management of non-traded market risk

The consolidated entity’s approach to managing non-traded 
market risk is to ensure that a detailed framework for identifying, 
managing, measuring, monitoring, overseeing and reporting  
non-traded market risk is maintained. 

The Board of Directors has implemented policies to mitigate  
and manage non-traded market risk.

Non-traded market risk policies aim to establish a methodology 
for the calculation, examination, management and reporting  
of the interest rate risk position on a regular basis. 

Management of non-traded market risk is vested in the Asset  
and Liability Committee (ALCO). The ALCO meets monthly  
and reviews the interest rate risk position and measures taken  
to manage that position.

Notes to the financial statements 
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Interest rate risk

The principal risk to which portfolios held to maturity are  
exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash 
flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change 
in market interest rates. The Board has established limits on 
Earnings at Risk (EaR), market value fluctuations and interest 
rate repricing gaps for stipulated periods. The ALCO monitors 
compliance with these limits. 

Management of interest rate risk

The management of interest rate risk is supplemented by 
monitoring the sensitivity of the consolidated entity’s financial 
assets and liabilities to various standard and non-standard 
interest rate scenarios. 

During the year, the bank entered into a number of interest  
rate swaps to reduce the cash flow variability associated  
with changes in floating interest rates.

(e) Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from  
a wide variety of causes associated with the consolidated entity’s 
processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure. It can also 
arise from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity 
risk such as those arising from legal, regulatory requirements, 
natural disasters or climatic events and generally accepted 
standards of corporate behaviour.

Management of operational risk

The consolidated entity’s objective is to manage operational risk 
to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the 
consolidated entity’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness. 

The Board of Directors has implemented a risk management 
policy and risk appetite statement that establishes the overall 
framework for managing risk. Specifically, the consolidated 
entity’s Risk Management Policy aims to:

• contribute to profitable prudential performance by achieving 
an appropriate balance between realising opportunities while 
minimising losses

• maintain a comprehensive and up-to-date risk policy 
statement that addresses all material risks and sets the  
risk limits acceptable to the Board

• manage and mitigate risk that is defined as exposure to  
the consequences of uncertainty, or potential deviations  
from that which is planned or expected

• facilitate regular reporting to Senior Management, the  
Board and relevant committees.

(f) Capital management

The Company monitors capital requirements for the consolidated 
entity as a whole in accordance with the requirements set by 
the Company’s regulator, APRA. In implementing the capital 
requirements, APRA requires the consolidated entity to maintain  
a prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk weighted assets. 

Regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers:

• Tier 1 capital includes general reserves, retained earnings, 
asset revaluation reserves and other regulatory adjustments 
relating to items that are included in equity but are treated 
differently for capital adequacy purposes. 

• Tier 2 capital includes qualifying collective impairment 
allowance after applying other regulatory adjustments. 

Risk weighted assets are determined according to specified 
requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels of risk 
attached to assets and off balance sheet exposures plus  
an allowance for operational risk as prescribed by APRA. 

The consolidated entity has complied with all externally  
imposed capital requirements throughout the period.

There have been no material changes in the consolidated  
entity’s management of capital during the year. 
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  Consolidated Consolidated The The
  Entity Entity Company Company
  2016 2015 2016 2015
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

5. Profit before income tax expense 
(a) Revenue 
Interest revenue: 

Deposits with other financial institutions   4,493   7,172   4,493   7,172 

Investment securities   17,608   16,804   17,608   16,804 

Loans and advances   128,569   126,275   128,569   126,275 

   150,670   150,251   150,670   150,251 

Interest revenue represents interest earned from financial instruments carried at amortised cost. 

(b) Share of profit in an associate 
Share of profit in an associate   1,577   808   1,577   808 

 
(c) Other income 
Fee income   5,197   5,569   5,197   5,569 

Commissions   7,562   7,552   7,562   7,552 

Bad debts recovered   71   36   71   36 

Dividends   1,548   2,757   1,548   2,757 

Intercompany management fees   –   –   10   10 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   296   197   175   118 

Less costs  (294) (194) (167) (107)

Net gain on sale of property, plant and equipment   2   3   8   11 

Other   801   869   383   483 

    15,181   16,786   14,779   16,418 

(d) Expenses  
Interest expense: 

Borrowings from other financial institutions   3,124   2,063   3,124   2,063 

Deposits   67,068   72,576   67,068   72,576 

    70,192   74,639   70,192   74,639 

(e) Bad and doubtful debts 
Bad debts written off    472   418   472   418 

Doubtful debts expense/(writeback)   409   335   409   335 

    881   753   881   753 

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016
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(f) Personnel expenses 
Wages and salaries   28,270   27,340   28,270   27,340 

Other associated personnel expenses   2,657   2,889   2,657   2,889 

Net increase/(decrease) in liability for annual leave   90   99   90   99 

Net increase/(decrease) in liability for long service leave   32  (293)  32  (293)

    31,049   30,035   31,049   30,035 

(g) Other expenses 
Customer product and service delivery costs   7,795   6,643   7,795   6,643 

General administration costs   2,763   3,399   2,763   3,399 

APRA levies   167   146   167   146 

Depreciation expense 

– plant and equipment   1,980   1,847   1,391   1,281 

– buildings   323   298   243   217 

Amortisation expense 

– leasehold improvements   253   411   253   411 

– intangible assets   121   120   121   120 

Information technology and associated costs   6,961   5,435   6,961   5,435 

Occupancy and associated costs   3,873   4,203   4,162   4,498 

Marketing and development   8,991   6,647   8,991   6,647 

Other   892   762   870   746 

    34,118   29,911   33,716   29,543 

Total personnel and other expenses   65,167   59,946   64,765   59,578 

 

  Consolidated Consolidated The The
  Entity Entity Company Company
  2016 2015 2016 2015
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016

6. Income tax expense 
 Recognised in the statement of profit or loss
Income tax expense

Provision for income tax – current year   9,131   9,914   9,131   9,914 

Over provision in prior years   163  (109)  163  (109)

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  (720) (291) (720) (291)

Origination attributable to other comprehensive income   22  (962)  22  (962)

Income tax expense attributable to profit   8,596   8,552   8,596   8,552 

Reconciliation of prima facie tax payable to the  
income tax expense in the accounts:

Profit before tax   31,188   32,507   31,188   32,507 

Income tax using the domestic corporate tax rate 30%  
(2015: 30%)   9,356   9,752   9,356   9,752 

Increase/(decrease) in income tax expense due to:

Other   13   –   13   – 

Non-deductible expenses   1   2   1   2 

Under/(over) provision in prior years   163  (109)  163  (109)

Rebatable dividend  (937) (1,093) (937) (1,093)

Income tax expense   8,596   8,552   8,596   8,552 

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment   894   220   894   220 

Net change in fair value of financial assets  (1,040)  3,226  (1,040)  3,226 

Net change in intangible assets  (36) (36) (36) (36)

Net change in share of equity of associates   233   46   233   46 

Income tax expense attributable to other  
comprehensive income   51   3,456   51  3,456 

Franking credits   118,855   108,329   118,855   108,329 

Franking credits held by the Company after adjusting for franking credits that will arise from the payment of income tax  
at the end of the financial year. 

  Consolidated Consolidated The The
  Entity Entity Company Company
  2016 2015 2016 2015
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
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7. Cash and liquid assets
Cash on hand   5,398   5,690   5,398   5,690 

Cash at bank   26,938   6,539   26,938   6,539 

Deposit at call – current   19,889   43,130   19,889   43,130 

Total cash and liquid assets   52,225   55,359   52,225   55,359 

Cash and liquid assets are generally available within 1 to 2 days.

8. Receivables
Accrued income – current   4,965   3,373   5,200   3,645 

Sundry debtors – current   19,856   25,956   19,856   25,360 

Total receivables   24,821   29,329   25,056   29,005 

9. Debt securities at amortised cost 
Term deposits – mutual ADIs   12,000   16,200   12,000   16,200 

Term deposits – listed ADIs  –   35,000  –  35,000 

Total receivables due from other financial institutions   12,000   51,200   12,000   51,200 

Maturity analysis 

Not longer than 3 months   12,000   42,200   12,000   42,200 

Longer than 3 months and less than 12 months   –   9,000  –  9,000 

    12,000   51,200   12,000   51,200 

  Consolidated Consolidated The The
  Entity Entity Company Company
  2016 2015 2016 2015
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
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  Consolidated Consolidated The The
  Entity Entity Company Company
  2016 2015 2016 2015
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

10. Investment securities at amortised cost
Negotiable certificates of deposit   381,881   543,363   381,881   543,363 

Asset backed securities   17,223   34,834   17,223   34,834 

Repurchase contracts   35,000   –   35,000   – 

Floating rate notes   240,177   145,267   240,177   145,267 

Total investment securities   674,281   723,464   674,281   723,464 

Maturity analysis

Not longer than 3 months   248,793   207,739   248,793   207,739 

Longer than 3 months and less than 12 months   154,089   390,952   154,089   390,952 

Longer than 1 year and less than 5 years   235,599   81,345   235,599   81,345 

Longer than 5 years   35,800   43,428   35,800   43,428 

    674,281   723,464   674,281   723,464 

11. Net loans and advances
(a) Amounts due comprise:
Overdrafts and revolving credit   75,783   68,068   75,783   68,068 

Term loans   3,138,194   2,592,396   3,138,194   2,592,396 

Directors and related parties   4,167   4,157   4,167   4,157 

Total loans and advances   3,218,144   2,664,621   3,218,144   2,664,621 

Less provisions for impairment  (1,631) (1,222) (1,631) (1,222)

Add net deferred loan fee costs/(income)   1,628  (193)  1,628  (193)

   3,218,141   2,663,206   3,218,141   2,663,206 

(b) Maturity analysis 
Overdrafts   75,937   68,163   75,937   68,163 

Not longer than 3 months   113,357   116,833   113,357   116,833 

Longer than 3 months and less than 12 months   259,120   212,739   259,120   212,739 

Longer than 1 year and less than 5 years   735,258   592,634   735,258   592,634 

Longer than 5 years   2,034,472   1,674,254   2,034,472   1,674,254 

    3,218,144   2,664,621   3,218,144   2,664,621 

The presentation of the maurity profile above has been changed to reflect the gross total of loans and advances.  
This was previously disclosed on a net basis.

The presentation of the prior period has also changed to be comparable with the current year presentation.

Notes to the financial statements 
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  Consolidated Consolidated The The
  Entity Entity Company Company
  2016 2015 2016 2015
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(c) Concentration of loans
At 30 June 2016, the loans portfolio includes one loan that represents 10% or more of capital (2016: $55,162,876 2015: $55,183,354).

Details of classes of loans which represent, in aggregate, 10% or more of capital are as follows:

Geographic areas

– Victoria (excluding Gippsland and Western regions)   1,278,623   992,532   1,278,623   992,532 

– Victoria (Western region)   457,404   409,612   457,404   409,612  

– Queensland  408,244   359,657   408,244   359,657

– Victoria (Gippsland region)   346,371   319,798   346,371   319,798 

– New South Wales   371,123   283,498   371,123   283,498 

– Australian Capital Territory   213,050   190,464   213,050   190,464 

    3,074,815   2,555,561   3,074,815   2,555,561 

– Other/or where there is no identifiable concentration   143,329   109,060   143,329   109,060 

    3,218,144   2,664,621   3,218,144   2,664,621 

12. Provision for impaired loans
(a) Provisions for impaired loans comprise:
Specific provision for impairment   292   512   292   512 

Collective provision for impairment   1,339   710   1,339   710 

Total provision for impairment   1,631   1,222   1,631   1,222 

(b) Provision movement
Balance at beginning of year   1,222   887   1,222   887 

Transfer (to)/from the profit or loss   409   335   409   335 

    1,631   1,222   1,631   1,222 
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  Consolidated Consolidated The The
  Entity Entity Company Company
  2016 2015 2016 2015
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(c) Impaired loans
Gross amount of loans individually determined  
to be impaired, before deducting the specific  
individually assessed impairment allowance   431   1,303   431   1,303 

Security held on impaired loans   56   815   56   815 

(d) Restructured loans
Balance of restructured loans   21,994   22,799   21,994   22,799 

A restructured facility is defined as one in which the original contractual terms have been modified to provide for concessions  
of interest or principal for reasons relating to the financial difficulties of the customer. For a facility to be classified as restructured,  
the Company and customer shall formally agree to the new terms. All restructured items shall be monitored to ascertain compliance 
with the agreement.

Security held on restructured loans   14,909   22,686   14,909   22,686 

(e)  Past due loans without impairment   –   85   –   85 

(f) Ageing analysis of past due loans without impairment
  90 days to 181 days   –   85   –   85 

    –   85   –   85 

(g) Other disclosures for impaired loans
– Assets acquired via enforcement of security   1,484   431   1,484   431 

– Interest and other revenue earned on impaired loans   16   22   16   22 

– Interest and other revenue forgone on impaired loans   33   54   33   54 

(h) Key assumptions in determining the provision for impairment:
The Company has determined the likely historical impairment loss on loans that have not maintained loan repayments in accordance 
with the loan contract, or where there is objective evidence of potential impairment such as industrial restructuring, job losses, or 
economic circumstances. In identifying the impairment likely from these events, the Company is required to estimate the potential 
impairment using the length of time the loan is in arrears and the historical losses arising in past years.

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016
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  Consolidated Consolidated The The
  Entity Entity Company Company
  2016 2015 2016 2015
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

13. Investment in an associate
Investment in Data Action Pty Ltd   5,383   5,262   5,383   5,262 

Total investments in associates   5,383   5,262   5,383   5,262 

The Company has a 28.3% (2015: 25%) interest in, and representation on the Board of Data Action Pty Ltd, a provider of computer 
facilities management and associated support services. As the Company has determined it has significant influence over Data Action,  
the interests in the associate are accounted for using the equity method. The table below illustrates the summarised financial information 
of the investment in Data Action Pty Ltd.

Current assets   14,692   19,165 

Non-current assets   11,030   6,625 

Current liabilities  (4,754) (4,302)

Non-current liabilities   (1,948) (441)

Equity   19,020   21,047 

Proportion of the Company’s ownership  28.3% 25.0%

Carrying amount of the investment   5,383   5,262 

Movement in share of equity for the year   121  155

Total revenue   41,455   34,627 

Total expenses  (33,921) (30,522)

Profit before tax   7,534   4,106 

Tax   (1,962) (872)

Profit after tax   5,572   3,233 

Share of profit for the year   1,577   808 

During the year the Company received $2,332,747 of dividends from Data Action Pty Ltd (2015: $886,955).

14. Other investments at fair value   
Shares in Cuscal   24,259   26,468   24,259   26,468 

Units in ECS Unit Trust  –   –   3,618   3,618 

Other investments   106   100   106   100 

Total other investments   24,365   26,568   27,983   30,186 

Management determined that the Cuscal shares constitute a Level 3 class of asset under AASB 13, because the market price of these 
assets is not readily available to the public. The fair value of these assets has been determined by referencing the last observable price 
for these shares.
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  Consolidated Consolidated The The
  Entity Entity Company Company
  2016 2015 2016 2015
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

15. Property, plant and equipment
(a) Land   10,355   6,630   3,355   3,370 

(b) Buildings   8,768   9,185   7,461   7,170 

Less accumulated depreciation  (194) (456) (194) (295)

Carrying amount   8,574   8,729   7,267   6,875 

Freehold land and buildings owned by the Company are carried at fair value in accordance with independent valuations carried  
out by Certified practising or Registered Valuers on a triennial basis. The table below summarises the last valuation dates for  
the Company’s properties.

Location Last valuation year
Moe – 50 Moore St 2014

Castlemaine – 75 Mostyn Rd 2014

Morwell – 248 Commercial Rd 2015

Bendigo – 86-92 Mitchell St 2015

Kew – 222 High St 2016

Swan Hill – 42 McCallum St 2016

Management determined that these constitute one class of asset under AASB 13, based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the 
property. Fair value of the properties was determined by using a direct market comparable method as well as a capitilisation approach. 
This means that the valuations performed by the valuers are based on active market prices, significantly adjusted for difference in the 
nature, location or condition of the specific property.

Significant unobservable valuation input

The unobservable valuation inputs are:

• Rent per square metre

• Capitalisation rate.

Sensitivity to significant changes in unobservable inputs within Level 3 of the hierarchy

A significant increase in the capitalisation rate or the rent per square metre rate would result in lower fair value of land and buildings  
at fair value, while a significant decrease in the capitalisation rate or rent per square metre rate would result in a higher fair value.

Notes to the financial statements 
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  Consolidated Consolidated The The
  Entity Entity Company Company
  2016 2015 2016 2015
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(c) Leasehold improvements – at cost   4,027   4,062   4,027   4,062 

Less accumulated depreciation  (3,236) (2,982) (3,236) (2,982)

Carrying amount   791   1,080   791   1,080 

(d) Plant and equipment – at cost   16,623   15,252   14,587   12,775 

Less accumulated depreciation  (11,901) (10,731) (11,003) (9,726)

Carrying amount   4,722   4,521   3,584   3,049 

(e) Artworks – at cost   112   112   112   112 

Carrying amount   112   112   112   112 

Total carrying amount – property, plant and equipment   24,554   21,072   15,109   14,486 

Property, plant and equipment not available for sale is classified non-current.

(f) Movement in property, plant and equipment balances during the year
Land

Carrying amount at beginning of year   6,630   6,080   3,370   2,820 

Revaluation increment   3,725   550  (15)  550 

Carrying amount at end of year   10,355   6,630   3,355   3,370 

Buildings

Carrying amount at beginning of year   8,729   8,215   6,875   6,281 

Additions   585   331   585   330 

Depreciation charge  (323) (298) (243) (217)

Revaluation increment  (417)  481   50   481 

Carrying amount at end of year   8,574   8,729   7,267   6,875 
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   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016

Leasehold improvements

Carrying amount at beginning of year   1,080   304   1,080   304 

Additions   18   1,187   18   1,187 

Disposals  (54)  –  (54)  – 

Depreciation charge  (253) (411) (253) (411)

Carrying amount at end of year   791   1,080   791   1,080 

Plant and equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of year   4,521   5,122   3,049   3,658 

Additions   2,421   1,440   2,039   779 

Disposals  (240) (194) (113) (107)

Depreciation charge  (1,980) (1,847) (1,391) (1,281)

Carrying amount at end of year   4,722   4,521   3,584   3,049 

Artworks

Carrying amount at beginning of year   112   112   112   112 

Carrying amount at end of year   112   112   112   112 

Total carrying amount at end of year   24,554   21,072   15,109   14,486 

(g) Revaluation of land and buildings
The Company uses the revaluation model for the measurement of land and buildings. If land and buildings were measured using the 
cost model, the carrying costs would be as follows:

Cost   9,688   9,688   5,826   5,826 

Accumulated depreciation/impairment charge  (2,895) (2,661) (1,404) (1,281)

Net carrying amount   6,793   7,027   4,422   4,545 

16. Intangible assets
a) Intangible assets – at cost   1,245   1,245   1,245   1,245 

Less accumulated amortisation  (291) (170) (291) (170)

Carrying amount   954   1,075  954   1,075 

(b) Carrying amount at beginning of year  1,075   1,195   1,075   1,195 

Amortisation charge   (121) (120)  (121) (120)

Total carrying amount at end of year   954   1,075   954   1,075 

The intangible asset relates to the Core Deposit Intangibles identified on acquisition of Swan Hill Credit Union in June 2014.  
This asset will be amortised over 10 years.
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17. Derivative financial assets
Interest rate swap asset   1,056  –   1,056   – 

Total derivative financial assets   1,056   –   1,056   – 

Maturity analysis

Not longer than 3 months   –   –  –  – 

Longer than 3 months and less than 12 months   115   –   115   – 

Longer than 1 year and less than 5 years   941   –   941   – 

Longer than 5 years  –   –   –   –

    1,056  –   1,056   – 

18. Other assets 
Prepayments – current   979   884   976   879 

Total other assets   979   884   976   879 

19. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
Assets  

Provision for impaired loans   489   367   489   367 

Plant and equipment   227   233   227   233 

Trade creditors and accruals   197   196   197   196 

Employee entitlements   1,375   1,338   1,375   1,338 

Sundry provisions   714   298   714   298 

Provision for impairment of conservation reserve   307   307   307   307 

Deferred tax asset   3,309   2,739   3,309   2,739 

Liabilities 

Land and buildings   1,172   278   1,172   278 

Other investments   3,968   5,043   3,968   5,043 

Deferred tax liability   5,140   5,321   5,140   5,321 

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)  (1,831) (2,582) (1,831) (2,582)
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Movement in temporary differences during the year 
Assets/(Liabilities)

  Provision 
  for   Trade 
  impaired Plant and creditors Employee Sundry Other Land and 
  loans equipment and accruals entitlements provisions investments buildings 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated Entity 

Opening balance 1 July 2014  266   100   325   1,396   255  (1,854)  249 

Recognised in profit or loss  101   133  (129) (58)  43   –   – 

Recognised in equity  –   –   –   –   –  (3,189) (220)

Balance 30 June 2015  367   233   196   1,338   298  (5,043)  29 

Opening balance 1 July 2015  367   233   196   1,338   298  (5,043)  29 

Recognised in profit or loss  122  (6)  –   37   417   –   – 

Recognised in equity  –   –   –   –   –   1,076  (894)

Balance 30 June 2016  489   227   196   1,375   715  (3,967) (865)

The Company

Opening balance 1 July 2014  266   100   325   1,396   255  (1,854)  249 

Recognised in profit or loss  101   133  (129) (58)  43   –   – 

Recognised in equity  –   –   –   –   –  (3,189) (220)

Balance 30 June 2015  367   233   196   1,338   298  (5,043)  29 

Opening balance 1 July 2015  367   233   196   1,338   298  (5,043)  29 

Recognised in profit or loss  122  (6)  –   37   417   –   – 

Recognised in equity  –   –   –   –   –   1,076  (894)

Balance 30 June 2016  489   227   196   1,375   715  (3,967) (865)

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016
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20. Deposits
(a) Balance of deposits comprises:
Withdrawable shares   20   573   20   573 

Call deposits   1,997,866   1,733,118   1,997,866   1,733,118 

Deposits from related entities   –   –   1,781   1,379 

Term deposits   1,404,682   1,291,880   1,404,682   1,291,880 

Total deposits and borrowings   3,402,568   3,025,571   3,404,349   3,026,950 

Following a successful resolution voted by customers at the 2015 Annual General Meeting, customers joining the bank are issued with  
a share free of charge. Each Bank Australia customer has one share, which cannot be sold or transferred to anyone else. Customers who 
had previously purchased their share at $5 have had this amount refunded. Any remaining shares yet to be refunded are classified as 
withdrawable shares.

(b) Maturity analysis
Withdrawable shares at call   20   573   20   573 

At call   1,997,865   1,733,118   1,999,646   1,734,496 

Not longer than 3 months   789,180   615,249   789,180   615,249 

Longer than 3 months and less than 12 months   479,514   510,990   479,514   510,990 

Longer than 1 year and less than 5 years   135,989   165,641   135,989   165,641 

    3,402,568   3,025,571   3,404,349   3,026,950 

(c) Concentrations of deposits

At 30 June 2016, there were no customers who individually or collectively had deposits that represented 10% or more  
of total liabilities (2015: Nil).

Details of classes of deposits that represent, in aggregate, 10% or more of liabilities are as follows:

Geographic areas

– Victoria (excluding Gippsland and Western regions)   1,556,624   1,440,794   1,558,405   1,442,173 

– Victoria (Gippsland region)   539,616   461,990   539,616   461,990 

– Victoria (Western region)   479,861   442,772   479,861   442,772 

    2,576,101   2,345,556   2,577,882   2,346,935 

– Other/or where there is no identifiable concentration   826,467   680,015   826,467   680,015 

    3,402,568   3,025,571   3,404,349   3,026,950 
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Notes to the financial statements 
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21. Short-term borrowings 
Negotiated certificates of deposit – current   113,806   87,169   113,806   87,169 

Repurchase contracts   31,263   –   31,263   – 

Total payables to other financial institutions   145,069   87,169   145,069   87,169 

22. Creditors and other liabilities 
Tax payable 

Provision for income tax – current   1,271   948   1,271   948 

Provisions 

Provision for employee entitlements – current   3,292   3,089   3,292   3,089 

Provision for employee entitlements – non-current   1,290   1,371   1,290   1,371 

Sundry provisions – current   754   84   754   84 

Sundry provisions – non-current   –   907   –   907 

    5,336   5,451   5,336   5,451 

Other liabilities 

Trade creditors and accruals – current   18,502   20,707   18,479   20,707 

Deferred income – current   600   580   600   580 

Deferred income – non-current   2,250   –   2,250   – 

Sundry creditors – current   25,381   22,408   25,378   22,403 

    46,733   43,695   46,706   43,690 

Total creditors and other liabilities   53,340   50,094   53,314   50,089 

Trade and sundry creditors and accruals are on contractual terms and are generally payable within 1 to 3 months.

Movement in provisions during the year 
Provision for employee entitlements 

Opening balance   4,460   4,654   4,460   4,654 

Additional provisions made during the period   2,441   2,369   2,441   2,369 

Amounts used during the period  (2,319) (2,563) (2,319) (2,563)

Closing balance   4,582   4,460   4,582   4,460 

The provision for employee benefits relates to annual and long service leave entitlements. Annual leave entitlements are expected to  
be taken within the next 12 months while long service leave entitlements will be progressively drawn down over the next 1 to 10 years.

Details of the estimates and judgements made to determine the required provision for employee entitlements are contained  
in Note 3(i). 
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Sundry provisions 

Opening balance   992   851   992   851 

Additional provisions made during the period   682   237   682   237 

Amounts used during the period  (920) (96) (920) (96)

Closing balance   754   992   754   992 

23. Capital and reserves
Asset revaluation reserve 
The asset revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of property.

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve relates to the fair valuation of equity investments not held for trading under AASB9 Financial Instruments.

Cash flow hedge reserve 
The cash flow hedge reserves relates to the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument.

General reserve for credit losses 
In accordance with APRA Prudential Regulations, a General Reserve for Credit Losses is maintained. This reserve is an appropriation  
of retained earnings to provide an additional reserve against possible volatility in future cash flows as a result of unexpected  
loan defaults. 

Redeemed capital reserve 
Redeemed capital reserve represents the amount of redeemable preference shares (member shares) redeemed since 1 July 1999. 

The Corporations Act requires redemption of shares to be made out of profits. Since the value of the shares redeemed has been  
paid to customers in accordance with the Constitution of the Company, the redeemed capital reserve account represents the  
amount of profits appropriated to the account.

Dividends
There were no dividends declared or paid during the financial year.

For balances and movements in reserves, refer to the Statement of changes in customer owners’ funds.
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016

24. Related party disclosures  
Key management personnel comprises seven non-executive Directors, one Managing Director and four executive managers during  
the year to 30 June 2016. 

(a) Transactions with key management personnel 
The key management personnel compensation included in ‘personnel expenses’ (see note 5(e)) are as follows: 

Short-term employee benefits   2,670   2,419   2,670   2,419 

Other long-term benefits   71   126   71   126 

Post-employment benefits   204   220   204   220 

Termination benefits   –   64   –   64 

    2,945   2,829   2,945   2,829 

(b) Loans to key management personnel 
Aggregate value of loans and credit facilities to key management personnel and spouses, or relatives of key management personnel 
and spouses at balance date amounted to:

Key management personnel   3,946   3,926   3,946   3,926 

Related parties   221   231   221   231 

Less provision for impairment   –   –   –   – 

    4,167   4,157   4,167   4,157 

Loans and credit facilities disbursed during  
the financial year by the Company to key  
management personnel and spouses, or relatives  
of key management personnel and spouses   1,694   1,247   1,694   1,247 

    1,694   1,247   1,694   1,247 

All loans and credit facilities disbursed were approved on the same terms and conditions that applied to customers generally  
for each class of loan. During the year, new loans were made to the following key management personnel and related parties: 

J W Baistow R B Dowland D G Walsh 

M J Bastian C H Newey J P Yardley 

A-M Corboy P J Taylor 
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Repayments against loans, credit facilities and interest charged to key management personnel and spouses, or relatives  
of key spouses amounted to: 

Repayments   1,856   1,336   1,856   1,336 

Interest charged   174   193   174   193 

During the year, repayments were made on all loans and credit facilities to key management personnel and related parties in 
accordance with terms and conditions. The following key management personnel and related parties made repayments on loans  
and credit facilities during the year: 

J W Baistow A-M Corboy P J Taylor

M J Bastian R B Dowland D G Walsh

H M Clarke C H Newey J P Yardley

All transactions between key management personnel and spouses, or relatives of key management personnel and spouses and  
the Company were conducted in accordance with normal terms and conditions. The terms and conditions in respect of all loans  
and credit facilities to key management personnel and spouses, or relatives of Directors and spouses have not been breached. 

(c) Other key management personnel transactions with the Company 
There are no other transactions or contracts to which key management personnel or related entities are a related party. 

(d) Transactions with associates 
The Company has an agreement with Data Action Pty Ltd for the provision of computer facilities and associated support services.  
The arrangements with Data Action Pty Ltd are disclosed in Notes 13 and 26(b). The table below illustrates the payments made  
to Data Action for these services:

   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    7,976   6,055   7,976   6,055 

25. Auditor’s remuneration  
Auditors of the Company are Ernst & Young 

Audit services  $ $ $ $

– Audit and review of financial reports   115,000   115,000   115,000   115,000 

– Other regulatory audit services   30,000   25,000   30,000   25,000 

    145,000   140,000   145,000   140,000 

Other services 

– Taxation services   13,000   13,000   13,000   13,000 

– Assurance services   95,550   75,250   95,550   75,250 

    108,550   88,250   108,550   88,250 

Amounts for Auditor’s remuneration are shown in whole dollars.
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26. Commitments for expenditure
(a) Lease commitments
Operating lease commitments under existing lease arrangements for building accommodation are payable over the following periods:

Within 1 year   2,160   1,537   2,160   1,537 

1 to 2 years   1,933   1,147   1,933   1,147 

2 to 5 years   3,122   1,861   3,122   1,861 

Longer than 5 years   1,071   –   1,071   – 

Total lease commitments   8,286   4,545   8,286   4,545 

(b) Material service contract commitments 
The Company has a contract with Data Action Pty Ltd to provide computer facilities management services and associated support 
services. The balance of fees payable under the contract are payable over the following periods: 

Within 1 year   3,562   603   3,562   603 

1 to 2 years   3,603   –   3,603   – 

2 to 5 years   11,583   –   11,583   – 

Longer than 5 years   9,492   –   9,492   – 

Total material service contract commitments   28,240   603   28,240   603 

27. Contingent liabilities and forward commitments
(a) Outstanding loan commitments 
Loans approved but not funded   141,155   120,972   141,155   120,972 

Undrawn credit commitments   149,694   148,736   149,694   148,736 

Loans available for redraw   384,450   331,457   384,450   331,457 

Total commitments   675,299   601,165   675,299   601,165 

Generally, there are no restrictions to withdrawal of funds under undrawn credit commitments, provided normal repayments  
are maintained. All such commitments are, however, cancellable at the discretion of the Company. 

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016
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(b) Liquidity support scheme 
The Company is party to CUFSS Limited and the Managing Director holds a seat on the CUFSS Board of Directors.  

CUFSS Limited is a voluntary emergency liquidity support scheme that mutual banks, credit unions and building societies  
participate in. CUFSS Limited is a company limited by guarantee, each participant’s guarantee being $100.  

As a party to the CUFSS scheme, the Company: 

(i) may be required to advance funds of up to $100 million (excluding permanent loans) of total assets to another  
 Authorised Deposit-taking Institution (ADI) requiring financial support, 

(ii) may be required to advance permanent loans of up to 0.1% of total assets per financial year to another  
 ADI requiring financial support, and  

(iii) agrees, in conjunction with other participants, to fund the operating costs of CUFSS Limited.

28. Standby arrangements 
The Company has arranged the following standby credit facilities: 

Cuscal overdraft facility    7,500   7,500   7,500   7,500 

Amount drawn   –   –   –   – 

Total facilities available   7,500   7,500   7,500   7,500 

There are no restrictions as to the withdrawal of these funds. Borrowings are secured by an equitable mortgage charge over  
the assets of the Company. 

29. Employee benefits 
Salaries and wages accrued   130   948   130   948 

Liability for long service leave   2,727   2,696   2,727   2,696 

Liability for annual leave   1,855   1,764   1,855   1,764 

Total employee benefits   4,712   5,408   4,712   5,408 

(a) Superannuation
The Company sponsors superannuation funds for its employees under normal conditions of employment, and in satisfaction of the 
requirements of the Superannuation Guarantee Scheme. During the year, the Company contributed to various superannuation funds 
with the main fund being NGS Super. 
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(b) Contributions paid and payable to superannuation plans
Employer contributions to the plans   2,692   2,491   2,692   2,491 

(c) Employees 
On a consolidated basis, the total number of full-time equivalent employees at 30 June 2016 was 338 (2015: 304). 

The total number of full-time equivalent employees at the Company as at 30 June 2016 was 338 (2015: 304). 

30. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 
(a) Reconciliation of cash 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash means cash on hand and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are highly liquid 
investments with short periods to maturity that are readily convertible to cash on hand and are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value, and borrowings that are integral to the cash management function and that are not subject to a term facility.  

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement  
of financial position as follows: 

Cash on hand   5,398   5,690   5,398   5,690 

Cash at bank – Cuscal   26,938   6,539   26,938   6,539 

Deposits at call – Cuscal   19,889   43,130   19,889   43,130 

    52,225   55,359   52,225   55,359 

(b) Cash flows presented on a net basis 
Cash flows arising from the following activities are presented on a net basis in the statement of cash flows: 

(i) deposits, shares and withdrawals from savings and investment accounts 

(ii) loans and repayments 

(iii) investment activities.

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016
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(c) Cash flows from operating activities 
Profit for the year   22,592   23,955   22,592   23,955 

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation   2,303   2,145   1,634   1,498 

Amortisation   373   531   373   531 

(Profit)/loss on disposal of non-current assets  (2) (3) (8) (11)

Bad debts written off   472   418   472   418 

Charge for loan impairment   409   335   409   335 

Share of profit in an associate  (1,577) (808) (1,577) (808)

Operating profit before changes in provisions   24,570   26,573   23,896   25,918 

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements   122  (194)  122  (194)

Increase/(decrease) in sundry provision  (237)  140  (237)  140 

(Increase)/decrease in accrued income  (1,593)  20  (1,555) (24)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  (95)  152  (97)  155 

Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors and accruals  (2,206)  1,178  (2,228)  1,699 

Increase/(decrease) in deferred income   2,270  (652)  2,270  (652)

(Increase)/decrease in sundry debtors   6,101  (6,786)  5,504  (6,541)

(Increase)/decrease in net deferred tax assets   752   3,319   752   3,319 

Increase/(decrease) in provision for income tax   323  (2,461)  323  (2,160)

Net cash provided by operating activities   30,007   21,289   28,750   21,660 

31. Controlled entities 
Details of controlled entities consolidated into the group financial statements are as follows:  

     Contribution to 
  Country of  Investment operating profit 
Name incorporation % owned at cost after tax 
    $’000 $’000 
Ed Credit Services Pty Ltd Australia 100  –   – 

ECS Unit Trust Australia 100  3,618   164 

Ed Credit Insurance Services Pty Ltd Australia 100  –   – 

Buloke Funding Trust No. 1 Australia 100 –   – 
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32. Securitisation
a) The Company has an arrangement with Integris Securitisation Services Pty Ltd whereby it acts as an agent to promote and 

complete loans on its behalf, for on-sale to an investment trust. The Company also manages the loans portfolio on behalf  
of the trust. The Company is only liable for loan repayment defaults to the extent of interest forgone by the trust, and for  
which the Company has mortgage insurance cover to recoup all such payments. 

 The Company no longer uses this program and the owner of the program has given notice to cease new loan securitisations.

 The pool of existing securitised loans is in run-off.

 The balance of securitised loans as at 30 June 2016 was $12,186,173 (2015: $17,084,441).

b) The Company has a repurchase obligation trust (Buloke Funding Trust No. 1) for securing the ability to obtain liquid funds from  
the Reserve Bank of Australia. The trust enables the Company to access liquid funds if normal operational liquidity requirements 
cannot be satisfied. To support the liquidity arrangment, loan contractual benefits have been transferred to the trust and the 
Company has purchased secured notes from the Buloke Trust that may then be sold to the Reserve Bank. The notes are secured  
by residential mortgage backed securities.

 The loan contractual benefits transferred to the trust have not been derecognised in the Company’s financial statements  
because the Company retains the benefits of the trust until the liquidity facility is drawn upon. The credit risk associated with  
the transferred loans remains with the Company. 

 The value of loans that do not qualify for derecognition as at 30 June 2016 was $700,277,171 (2015: $478,129,575).   
The value of associated liabilities, including floating rate notes and accrued interest payable on the notes at 30 June 2016  
was  $735,529,724 (2015: $495,832,928).

33. Financial instruments
(a) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the consolidated 
entity has access at that date.

The consolidated entity measures fair value using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs  
used in making the measurements: 

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments 

Level 2: valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are based on observable market data 

Level 3: valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are not based on observable market data. 

When applicable, the fair value of an instrument is calculated using the quoted price in an active market for that instrument.  
A market is regarded as active if all transactions take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information  
on an ongoing basis. For all other financial instruments, fair values are determined using other techniques. 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements during the period, and no transfers into or out  
of Level 3 fair value measurements during the year ending 30 June 2016. 

The following table summarises the fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost on the face of the 
consolidated entity’s statement of financial position and the disaggregation by the fair value hierarchy, and separately those  
of the Company.

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016



  Bank Australia Statutory Financial Report 2016   49

33. Financial instruments (continued) Carrying Fair value Fair value Fair value Fair value
 value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated Entity 2016
Financial assets

Debt securities  12,000   –   12,016   –   12,016 

Investment securities  674,281   –   674,408   –   674,408 

Loans and advances (net of provisions)  3,218,141   –   –   3,219,762   3,219,762 

Derivatve financial assets  1,056   –   1,056   –   1,056 

Other investments  24,365   –   –   24,365  24,365 

Total financial assets  3,929,842   –   687,480   3,244,127   3,931,607 

Financial liabilities

Deposits  3,402,568   –   –   3,402,898   3,402,898 

Short-term borrowings  145,069   –   145,093   –   145,093 

Total financial liabilities  3,547,637   –   145,093   3,402,898   3,547,991 

Consolidated Entity 2015
Financial assets

Debt securities  51,200   –   51,243   –   51,243 

Investment securities  723,464   –   725,609   –   725,609 

Loans and advances (net of provisions)  2,663,206   –   –   2,667,072   2,667,072 

Derivatve financial assets  –   –   –   –   – 

Other investments  26,568   –   –   26,568   26,568 

Total financial assets  3,464,437   –   776,852   2,693,640   3,470,492 

Financial liabilities

Deposits  3,025,571   –   –   3,026,494   3,026,494 

Short-term borrowings  87,169   –   87,582   –   87,582 

Total financial liabilities  3,112,740   –   87,582   3,026,494   3,114,076 

The Company 2016
Financial assets 

Debt securities  12,000   –   12,016   –   12,016 

Investment securities  674,281   –   674,408   –   674,408 

Loans and advances (net of provisions)  3,218,141   –   –   3,219,762   3,219,762 

Derivatve financial assets  1,056   –   1,056   –   1,056 

Other investments  27,983   –   –   27,983   27,983 

Total financial assets  3,933,461   –   687,480   3,247,745   3,935,225 

Financial liabilities

Deposits  3,404,349   –   –   3,404,679   3,404,679 

Short-term borrowings  145,069   –   145,093   –   145,093 

Total financial liabilities  3,549,418   –   145,093   3,404,679   3,549,772 
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33. Financial instruments (continued) Carrying Fair value Fair value Fair value Fair value
 value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Company 2015
Financial assets

Debt securities  51,200   –   51,538   –   51,538 

Investment securities  723,464   –   729,118   –   729,118 

Loans and advances (net of provisions)  2,663,206   –   –   2,667,072   2,667,072 

Derivatve financial assets  –   –   –   –   – 

Other investments  30,186   –   –   30,186   30,186 

Total financial assets  3,468,056   –   780,656   2,697,258   3,477,915 

Financial liabilities

Deposits  3,026,950   –   –   3,027,873   3,027,873 

Short-term borrowings  87,169   –   87,582   –   87,582 

Total financial liabilities  3,114,119   –   87,582   3,027,873   3,115,455 

Interest rates used to determine fair value

The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, when applicable, are based on equivalent market rates at the reporting date.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. Refer to Note 11 for concentration of credit risk.

The fair value estimates were determined by the following methodologies and assumptions:

Cash and liquid assets

The carrying values of cash and liquid assets approximate their fair value because they are short term in nature or are receivable  
on demand.

Debt securities

Fair value is a reasonable estimate of the fair value determined by reference to the current market value of the instrument. Fair value 
has been determined by a discounted cash flow model, where the future cash flows of the financial asset have been discounted back  
to the balance date using observable market interest rates offered at balance date for instruments with similar risk and maturity.

Investment securities

Fair value is a reasonable estimate of the fair value determined by reference to the current market value of the instrument. Fair value 
has been determined by a discounted cash flow model, where the future cash flows of the financial asset have been discounted back  
to the balance date using observable market interest rates offered at balance date for instruments with similar risk and maturity.

Loans and advances

The carrying value of loans and advances is net of the provision for impairment. Interest rates on loans equate to comparable products 
in the marketplace. Discounted cash flows based on the loan type and its related maturity are used to calculate the fair value of fixed 
rate loans.

The difference between estimated fair values of loans and advances and carrying value reflects changes in interest rates since loan  
or advance origination and credit worthiness of the borrower.

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016
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33. Financial instruments (continued)
Other investments

Fair value of other investments is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. If no quoted price is available and there 
is no observable market data to ascertain fair value, the most recent transaction price has been used to determine the fair value of the 
investment. For investments disclosed as Level 3 financial assets, the unobservable input has been determined to be the share price.  
A reasonably possible range of alternate share prices would be a 10% increase or decrease in the share price. If the transaction price 
was to be increased by 10%, this would result in an increase in fair value by $2.5 million. If the transaction price was to be decreased  
by 10%, this would result in a decrease in fair value by $2.5 million.

Derivatives

The fair value of derivative financial instruments are from quoted closing market prices at balance date, discounted cash flow models  
or option pricing models as appropriate. Where there is no market value, the fair value is determined using valuation techniques for 
which all inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable either directly or indirectly.

Deposits

The fair value of non-interest bearing, call and variable rate deposits, and fixed rate deposits maturing within 3 months approximates  
its carrying value. Discounted cash flows (based upon the deposit type and its related maturity) are used to calculate the fair value  
of other term deposits.

Short-term borrowings

The carrying values of short-term borrowings maturing within 3 months approximate their fair value because they are short term  
in nature.

Level 3 Financial Instruments – reconciliation 
The table below summarises the reconciliation of change in exposure in the statement of financial position to financial instruments 
categorised as Level 3 as at 30 June 2016. 

Consolidated Entity Other investments

Opening balance 2015  26,568 

Purchases  – 

Sales  – 

Total revaluation gains or (losses) (2,204)

Closing balance 2016  24,364 

The Company Other investments

Opening balance 2015  30,186 

Purchases  2 

Sales  – 

Settlements  – 

Total revaluation gains or (losses) (2,204)

Closing balance 2016  27,983 
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33. Financial instruments (continued)
(b) Effective interest rates and repricing analysis
In respect of income-earning assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates their effective interest  
rates at the balance sheet date, the periods in which they reprice and contractual cash flows.

        Weighted 
       Total carrying average 
       amount as  effective 
  0–3 3–12 1–2 2–5 More than  per balance interest 
  months months years years 5 years sheet rate 
  $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s %

Consolidated Entity 2016 
Financial instruments
(i) Financial assets

Deposits at call  46,827   –   –   –   –   46,827  1.16%

Debt securities  12,000   –   –   –   –   12,000  2.78%

Investment securities  514,262   138,088   –   21,931   –   674,281  2.92%

Loans and advances  3,007,200   39,809   67,904   96,851   6,377   3,218,141  4.39%

Total financial assets  3,580,289   177,897   67,904   118,782   6,377   3,951,249 

(ii) Financial liabilities

Deposits  2,793,191   473,388   100,620   35,369   –   3,402,568  2.10%

Short-term borrowings  101,815   43,254   –   –   –   145,069  2.47%

Total financial liabilities  2,895,006   516,642   100,620   35,369   –   3,547,637 

(iii) Derivative financial assets

Interest rate swaps –  
notional principal (180,100) 50,000   50,000  80,100   –   –    

Consolidated Entity 2015 
Financial instruments
(i) Financial assets

Deposits at call  49,669   –   –   –   –   49,669  1.85%

Debt securities  42,200   9,000   –   –   –   51,200  2.56%

Investment securities  380,840   340,624   –   –   2,000   723,464  2.81%

Loans and advances  2,410,391   104,238   70,067   71,980   6,530   2,663,207  4.74%

Derivative financial assets  –   –   –   –   –   –   – 

Total financial assets  2,883,100   453,863   70,067   71,980   8,530   3,487,539 

(ii) Financial liabilities

Deposits  2,355,002   504,929   125,608   40,032   –   3,025,571  2.40%

Short-term borrowings  56,532   30,637   –   –   –   87,169  2.65%

Total financial liabilities  2,411,534   535,566   125,608   40,032   –   3,112,740 

(iii) Derivative financial assets

Interest rate swaps –  
notional principal –  –    –   –    –   –  

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016
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33. Financial instruments (continued)
        Weighted 
       Total carrying average 
       amount as  effective 
  0–3 3–12 1–2 2–5 More than  per balance interest 
  months months years years 5 years sheet rate 
  $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s %

The Company 2016 
Financial instruments
(i) Financial assets

Deposits at call  46,827   –   –   –   –   46,827  1.16%

Debt securities  12,000   –   –   –   –   12,000  2.78%

Investment securities  514,262   138,088   –   21,931   –   674,281  2.92%

Loans and advances  3,007,200   39,809   67,904   96,851   6,377   3,218,141  4.39%

Total financial assets  3,580,289   177,897   67,904   118,782   6,377   3,951,249 

(ii) Financial liabilities

Deposits  2,794,973   473,387   100,620   35,369   –   3,404,349  2.10%

Short-term borrowings  101,815   43,254   –   –   –   145,069  2.47%

Total financial liabilities  2,896,788   516,641   100,620   35,369   –   3,549,418 

(iii) Derivative financial assets

Interest rate swaps –  
notional principal (180,100) 50,000   50,000  80,100   –   – 

The Company 2015 
Financial instruments 
(i) Financial assets 

Deposits at call  49,669   –   –   –   –   49,669  1.85%

Debt securities  42,200   9,000   –   –   –   51,200  2.56%

Investment securities  380,840   340,624   –   –   2,000   723,464  2.81%

Loans and advances  2,410,391   104,238   70,067   71,980   6,530   2,663,206  4.74%

Derivative financial assets  –   –   –   –   –   –   – 

Total financial assets  2,883,100   453,862   70,067   71,980   8,530   3,487,539  

(ii) Financial liabilities 

Deposits  2,356,381   504,929   125,608   40,032   –   3,026,950  2.40%

Short-term borrowings  56,532   30,637   –   –   –   87,169  2.65%

Total financial liabilities  2,412,913   535,566   125,608   40,032   –   3,114,119  

(iii) Derivative financial assets

Interest rate swaps –  
notional principal –  –    –   –    –   –  
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33. Financial instruments (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.  
Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss. 

Sensitivity to interest rate risk

The consolidated entity also measures on a monthly basis the stress sensitivity of earnings to interest rate movements,  
utilising an Earnings at Risk (EaR) sensitivity calculation. The calculation involves the measuring of the static interest rate  
repricing gaps arising as a result of the varying interest rate repricing characteristics of assets, liabilities and capital,  
and the impact, over a 12 month period, of a 1% and 2% interest rate increase and 1% and 2% interest rate decrease  
on earnings arising from the static gap position. The information below shows the Company’s and consolidated entity’s  
stress sensitivity to interest rates utilising EaR sensitivity (+/-1% change):

The major classes of financial assets and liabilities that are subject to interest rate variation are loans to customers,  
cash with banks, investments and deposits from customers. The interest rates on the major proportion of these assets  
and liabilities can be adjusted in the short term to minimise any significant impact of mismatch on interest margins.

Interest rate movement
 Consolidated Entity and the Company

  +1% +1% -1% -1% 

  2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Pre-tax earnings at risk 4,240   3,439  (9,750) (8,097) 

(d) Credit risk exposures
Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties failed to perform as contracted.

On-balance sheet financial instruments

The credit risk on financial assets, excluding investments, of the Company that have been recognised on the  
balance sheet is the carrying amount, net of any provision for impairment.

The Company minimises concentrations of credit risk by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers  
and counterparties. The Company is not materially exposed to any individual counterparty.

34. Events after the balance sheet date
There have been no events subsequent to balance date that would have a material effect on the consolidated entity’s  
and the Company’s financial statements as at 30 June 2016.

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016
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In the opinion of the Directors of Bank Australia (the Company),

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 11 to 54 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2016 and  
of their performance, for the financial year ended on that date

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and Corporations  
Regulations 2001

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 2(a)

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Michelle Somerville, Director    Damien Walsh, Director
Signed at Melbourne on 22 September 2016   Signed at Melbourne on 22 September 2016

Directors’ declaration
for the year ended 30 June 2016
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We have audited the accompanying financial report of mecu Limited which comprises the statement of financial position at  
30 June 2016, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in customer owners’ funds and the statement  
of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, and the Directors’ declaration of the Company and the consolidated entity comprising the Company and the entities  
it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance  
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the Directors determine are 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
In Note 1, the Directors also state, in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, 
that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from  
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report.  
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement  
of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls  
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are  
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal  
controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We have given  
to the Directors of the Company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a copy of which is included in the Directors’ report.

Opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of mecu Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position as  
 at 30 June 2016 and of their performance for the year ended on that date 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 2(a).

Ernst & Young T J Coyne, Partner 
 Melbourne, 22 September 2016

Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of mecu Limited
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